ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred in ruling as a matter of law that Appellant's lack of training did not cause or contribute to his injury.
2. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred in ruling that 29 C.F.R. 1910.178(1) does not require safety training that could have prevented Appellant's injury

3. The Circuit Court of Berkeley County erred in ruling as a matter of law that Appellant's injury was "unforeseeable".

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant applied for work in Appellee's bindery or press departments but failed to qualify due to color blindness. Appellant was then offered employment as a forklift operator. Appellant had no experience operating a forklift, no prior training in forklift operation and was not certified as a forklift operator. Despite his lack of training, experience or certification, Appellant was put to work operating a forklift on his first day of work. R. 244¹ By permitting the Appellant to operate a forklift without proper training, Appellees knowingly violated federal law [29 C.F.R. 1910.178(l)] requiring forklift operators to successfully complete formal classroom instruction, practical training, and a performance evaluation by an instructor before being allowed to operate a forklift. The OSHA regulation in question required specific training in: (1) operating instructions, warnings, and precautions for the types of truck the operator would be authorized to operate; (2) truck controls and instrumentation: where they are located, what they do, and how they work; (3) steering and maneuvering; (4) visibility (including restrictions due to loading); (5) operating limitations; (6) any other operating instructions, warnings, or precautions listed in the operator's manual for the types of vehicle that the employee is being trained to operate. The regulation also required Appellees to provide specific training on the particular conditions encountered in the workplace including: (1) surface conditions where the vehicle will be operated; and (2) narrow aisles and other restricted

¹ This and all subsequent entries of this type are page cites to the record prepared for appeal.

places where the vehicle will be operated. R. 245-246. The OSHA mandated training included an obstacle course of pallets through which Appellant should have been required to maneuver a forklift to demonstrate his proficiency. R. 473. If Appellant had knocked any of the pallets over he would not have passed the course and would not have been certified until he had demonstrated his ability to successfully complete the obstacle course. Allowing Appellant to operate a forklift without this certification was admitted by Appellees to be a safety hazard. R. 714-715.

Appellant was permitted to work as a forklift operator from his first day of employment until he was injured three weeks later. Appellees' violation of the OSHA regulation was not isolated or fortuitous event. Appellees were aware at the time Appellant was hired that federal law required forklift operators to be properly trained and certified. R. 389, 393. Despite this awareness, Appellees did not begin training and certifying forklift operators in compliance with federal law until after Appellant's injury. R. 389, 393.

Appellant was seriously injured three weeks after he began operating a forklift. Prior to his injury, Appellant's lack of experience and training was evident. Several times during each of his shifts the Appellant would knock over pallets while operating his forklift. R. 275. Appellant's supervisors observed him operating his forklift in an unsafe manner. R. 720-722. Despite knowledge of Appellant's lack of safety training and unsafe practices, Appellees permitted him to continue operating a forklift until he was injured.

On the date of his injury, the Appellant's supervisor instructed him to maneuver a forklift down a narrow passageway between two rows of stacked, loaded pallets. Appellees routinely stacked pallets two high due to space constraints. R. 394. Each individual pallet was slightly less than four feet tall, making a row of stacked pallets almost eight feet tall. R. 394. The width of the passageway created between two rows of stacked pallets was normally fifty-two and one-quarter inches. The width of the forklift itself was forty-seven and one-half inches. This left mere inches on either side of the forklift as the Appellant maneuvered down the passageway between the rows of eight foot high stacked pallets. R. 398-399. In addition, between each layer of product on the pallets was cardboard sheeting extending beyond the pallets themselves. R. 309.

Appellant reported to his supervisor that he was concerned about his ability to safely operate the forklift in the confined space created by the stacked pallets. His supervisor ignored his safety concerns. R. 246-247. While proceeding down the passageway, Appellant's left foot became pinned between the forklift and a wall of pallets. He sustained a severe crush injury and multiple fractures of his left foot and internal derangement of his knee requiring surgery. R. 247.

Despite abundant evidence in the record to support a reasonable inference that his lack of training proximately caused or contributed to Appellant's injury, the trial court granted summary judgment to Appellees.

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OR SCOPE OF REVIEW

The appropriateness of the trial court's entry of summary judgment is subject to *de novo* review. *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). The Court's traditional standard for granting summary judgment is stated in *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of N.Y.*, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963): "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Summary judgment is only appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

A deliberate intention case does not change Appellees' burden with regard to establishing their right to summary judgment:

The portion of the statute which authorizes "prompt judicial resolution" of "deliberate intention" actions against employers, specifically, *W.Va.Code* § 23-4-2(c)(2)(iii)(B) [1994], relates to plaintiffs' more specific substantive law burden under the five-element test of *W.Va.Code* § 23-4-2(c)(2)(ii)(A)-(E) [1994], but the preexisting procedural law still applies for granting employers' motions for summary judgment, directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Jones v. Patterson Contracting, Inc., 206 W. Va. 399, 407, 524 S.E.2d 915, 923 (1999), quoting syllabus point three of *Sias v. W-P Coal Co.*, 185 W. Va. 569, 408 S.E.2d 321 (1991)

Appellees concede that genuine issues of material fact exist with regard to four of the five elements of Appellant's deliberate intent claim. Appellant need not address those four elements in order to defeat summary judgment. It is not Appellant's burden to prove each element of his claim at the summary judgment stage, rather the Appellees must prove there are no issues of fact which would preclude summary judgment in their favor. *Dawson v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 189 W.Va. 557, 565, 433 S.E.2d 268, 276 (1993).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Committed Reversible Error in Granting Summary Judgment on the Element of Proximate Cause

A. Appellees Conceded that Material Issues of Fact Existed with Four of the Five Elements of Appellant's Deliberate Intent Claim

Appellees admitted that material issues of fact existed with regard to the following elements of Appellant's deliberate intent claim:

- a. Whether an unsafe working condition existed which presented a risk of serious injury due to the defendants' failure to train and certify the plaintiff;
- b. Whether the defendants' intentionally exposed the plaintiff to the unsafe condition; and,
- c. Whether the plaintiff suffered a serious injury.

R. 180.

Appellees further admitted that the unsafe condition in issue was in violation of a federal safety law:

“Quad/Graphics concedes that it did not fully comply with the provisions of 29 C.F.R. 1910.178(1), which required employers to ensure that operators of forklift trucks received training, consisting of formal instruction, practical training, and workplace evaluation, and are certified prior to formal assignment and operation of the forklift truck in the workplace”

R. 183.

In short, Appellees admitted that material issues of fact existed with regard to every element of Appellant’s deliberate intent claim except the element of proximate cause.

B. The Safety Training Required by Law Was Specifically Designed to Prevent Forklift Injuries

The circuit court’s conclusion that 29 C.F.R. 1910.178(1) did not require training that could have prevented Appellant’s injury is erroneous. The OSHA regulation mandates specific training in operating forklifts in “narrow aisles and other restricted places where the vehicle will be operated”. The regulation requires not only class room instruction, but practical live demonstrations of safe forklift operation and requires that the operator demonstrate his ability to safely operate the forklift. The operator must successfully complete the training to be certified. The operator must receive refresher training if he is observed operating the forklift in an unsafe manner. 29 C.F.R. 1910.178(1). This legally mandated training is specifically designed to prevent the type forklift injury that occurred in this case.

C. Proximate Cause is Almost Invariably a Jury Question to be Determined Based Upon the Totality of the Evidence

It is well established that except in very limited circumstances, the issue of proximate cause is a jury question to be decided based upon the totality of the evidence. See, e.g., *Matheny v. Fairmont Gen. Hosp.*, 212 W. Va. 740; 575 S.E.2d 350 (2002); *Kizer v. Harper*, 211 W. Va. 47; 561 S.E.2d 368 (2001) (a jury question was presented as to whether the statutory violation was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries); *Murray v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 203 W. Va. 477; 509 S.E.2d 1 (1998) (district court ruled that jury question existed over proximate cause of loss); *Wehner v. Weinstein*, 191 W. Va. 149; 444 S.E.2d 27 (1994); *Weese v. Muir*, 188 W. Va. 542; 425 S.E.2d 218 (1992) (proximate cause was a jury question); *Yost v. Fuscaldo*, 185 W. Va. 493; 408 S.E.2d 72 (1991); *Grillis v. Monongahela Power Co.*, 176 W. Va. 662; 346 S.E.2d 812 (1986) (issues of negligence and proximate cause are jury questions); *Burdette v. Maust Coal & Coke Corp.*, 159 W. Va. 335; 222 S.E.2d 293 (1976); *Butler V. Smith's Transfer Corp.*, 147 W. Va. 402; 128 S.E.2d 32 (1962) (evidence was sufficient to submit to the jury the questions as to whether or not the defendant was guilty of negligence and, if so, whether such negligence was the proximate cause of the damages); *Johnson v. Monongahela Power Co.*, 146 W. Va. 900; 123 S.E.2d 81 (1961) (question of proximate cause would be a jury question); *Frye V. McCrory Stores Corp.*, 144 W. Va. 123; 107 S.E.2d 378 (1959); *Darling v. Baltimore & O. R.R.*, 136 W. Va. 303; 69 S.E.2d 139 (1951) (Whether violation was in this case the proximate cause of decedent's death is a jury question); *Shrimplin V. Simmons Auto Co.*, 122 W. Va. 248; 9 S.E.2d 49 (1940) (negligence, which was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries, was, we think, a

jury question); *White v. Ohio V. E. Ry.*, 98 W. Va. 378; 127 S.E. 65 (1925) (The general rule as to what is the proximate cause of an injury is ordinarily a jury question); *Crockett v. Black Wolf Coal & Coke Co.*, 75 W. Va. 325; 83 S.E. 987 (1914) (proximate cause is question for the jury).