IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 31860

JAMES W. ARNAZZI,
Plaintiff below, Appellant,

v.

QUAD/GRAPHICS, INC., and ROBERT KNIGHTEN,
Defendants below, Appellees,

The Honorable David H. Sanders
Circuit Court of Berkeley County
Civil Action No. 02-C-195

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

Counsel for Appellant

Harry P. Waddell, Esquire
W. Va. State Bar ID 3883
300 West Martin Street
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401
(304) 263-4988

Counsel for Appellees

Ancil G. Ramey, Esquire
W. Va. State Bar ID 3013
Bryan R. Cokeley, Esquire
W. Va. State Bar ID 774
Scott E. Johnson, Esquire
W. Va. State Bar ID 6335
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 1588
Charleston, West Virginia 25326

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Mr. Arnazzi asserts the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment based on Mr. Arnazzi's inability to present a *prima facie* case of proximate causation. This Court should affirm the circuit court either because Mr. Arnazzi's brief is insufficient to perfect his claims or because the circuit court's order was palpably correct.

A. Mr. Arnazzi's Brief is Insufficient to Preserve His Assignments of Error. Mr. Arnazzi's Brief raises three issues that require resolution by this Court: (1) whether OSHA Regulation § 1910.178(l) was specifically designed to prevent forklift injuries; (2) whether the issue of proximate cause should have been submitted to a jury; and (3) whether the circuit court erred in finding that the accident was unforeseeable. This Court has said "many times that '[a] skeletal argument, really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.'" *State v. Ladd*, 210 W. Va. 413, 424 n.1, 557 S.E.2d 820, 831 n.1 (2001) (citations omitted). Mr. Arnazzi's Brief is insufficient to preserve the errors it alleges.

1. *OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l)*. Mr. Arnazzi cites to several portions of OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l), Appellant's Br. at 7, and makes the *ipse dixit* assertion that "[t]his legally mandated training is specifically designed to prevent the type forklift [sic] injury that occurred in this case." *Id.* He does not explain how the cited portions of the regulation actually lead to the conclusion he asserts. This Court has noted its "established rule, [to] limit [its] consideration . . . to those arguments fully developed and argued . . ." *State v. Buck*, 170 W. Va. 428, 431 n.2, 294 S.E.2d 281, 284 n.2 (1982). *See also Ohio Cellular v. Board of Pub.*

Works, 198 W. Va. 416, 424 n.11, 481 S.E.2d 722, 210 n.11 (1996) (“However, because this issue was inadequately briefed . . . we do not address it on appeal.”). The requirement of a fully developed argument is even more imperative when, as here, a detailed regulatory scheme is implicated. *Skretvedt v. E.I. DuPont De Nemours*, 372 F.3d 193, 202 n.12 (3d Cir. 2004) (citation omitted) (“[W]here important and complex issues of law are presented, a . . . detailed exposition of argument [in a party’s appellate brief] is required to preserve an issue.”). *Cf. State ex rel. Richey v. Hill*, ___ W. Va. ___, ___ n.9, 603 S.E.2d 177, 183 n.9 (2004) (citations omitted) (“It is not sufficient that appellant raise only a general constitutional doctrine in support of his request for relief. It is incumbent upon appellant to cite specific legal authority and to provide legal arguments based upon that authority. This is especially important where, as here, the relevant area of law is new or not well defined.”). Mr. Arnazzi’s injuries were caused when he caught his pant leg on a piece of wood while operating a forklift. It was a simple workplace accident. Mr. Arnazzi had no expert in forklift safety who identified any causal relationship between the forklift regulations upon which he relies and the conditions which resulted in the accident. Indeed, Mr. Arnazzi identifies no such causal relationship. Rather, Mr. Arnazzi simplistically argues that because he did not have forklift certification training and was injured in a forklift accident, Quad/Graphics should be liable. Under this Court’s prior cases, Mr. Arnazzi’s superficial treatment of his argument is inadequate.

2. *Proximate Causation.* Mr. Arnazzi’s Brief asserts that “[i]t is well established that except in very limited circumstances, the issue of proximate cause is a jury question to be decided based upon the totality of the evidence.” Appellant’s Br. at 8. This

statement is then supported by reference to a prolix string cite of opinions. *Id.* The Brief then makes the bald statement that “[i]n the present case, the circuit court invaded the jury’s role as fact finder. The jury should have been permitted to determine by a preponderance of all the evidence whether Appellant’s lack of training proximately caused or contributed to the injury.”

Id. This cursory treatment is insufficient to perfect this argument. “[I]t is . . . well settled . . . that casual mention of an issue in a brief is cursory treatment insufficient to preserve the issue on appeal.” *State v. Lilly*, 194 W. Va. 595, 605 n.16, 461 S.E.2d 101, 111 n.16 (1995) (citation omitted).

3. *Foreseeability.* Finally, Mr. Arnazzi argues the circuit court erred in finding his accident was unforeseeable. His Brief, however, does not cite either to the record or any pertinent authority. The absence of these two fundamental aspects of any brief is fatal to this Court’s review. *See, e.g., State v. Ladd*, 210 W. Va. 413, 424 n.1, 557 S.E.2d 820, 831 n.1 (2001) (“The defendant’s mere assertion, without supporting case law, is inadequate to preserve the assignment of error.”); *State v. Phelps*, 197 W. Va. 713, 724, 478 S.E.2d 563, 574 (1996) (per curiam) (“The State contends the defendant’s failure to cite to the record and to cite pertinent authority in support of this assignment of error renders appellate review of this particular assignment of error waived. The State is correct that this matter is not set out sufficient to satisfy our standards on appellate review.”).

B. Assuming that this Court Chooses to Address the Perfunctory Arguments in Mr. Arnazzi’s Brief on the Merits, It Should Nonetheless also Affirm the Order Granting Summary Judgment to Quad/Graphics.

If this Court does address Mr. Arnazzi's arguments, it should affirm the circuit court on the merits. This Court has always required "the plaintiff to establish *each* of the statute's five factors." *Mumaw v. U.S. Silica Co.*, 204 W. Va. 6, 9, 511 S.E.2d 117, 120 (1998) (per curiam). "Thus, in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff must make a prima facie showing of dispute on each of the five factors." *Id.*, 511 S.E.2d at 120. "Therefore, at the summary judgment stage, if a defendant should establish that no material issue of fact is in dispute on any one of the five factors, and such a finding is in favor of the defendant, summary judgment must be granted to the defendant." *Id.* at 11, 511 S.E.2d at 121 (footnote omitted). *Accord Deskins v. S.W. Jack Drilling Co.*, 215 W. Va. 525, ___, 600 S.E.2d 237, 240 (2004) (per curiam). Mr. Arnazzi has failed to make prima facie showing of "direct and proximate result." Thus, Quad/Graphics was entitled to summary judgment.

1. *The operative portion of OSHA Regulation 1910.178 concerning Mr. Arnazzi's accident is not 1910.178(l), but 1910.178(m)(4).* Mr. Arnazzi claims that OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l) requiring formal training of forklift operators "is specifically designed to prevent the type [sic] forklift injury that occurred in this case." Appellant's Br. at 7. A review of Mr. Arnazzi's own testimony and a reading of all of OSHA Regulation 1910.178 belies Mr. Arnazzi's argument.

Mr. Arnazzi contends that the full training mandated by OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l) was "specifically designed to prevent the type [sic] forklift injury that occurred in this case." Appellant's Br. at 7. Mr. Arnazzi's myopic focus on subsection (l) has led him to overlook the

actual portion of OSHA Regulation 1910.178 that directly addresses the steps required to avoid the type of injury suffered in this case.

OSHA Regulation 1910.178(m) is entitled "Truck Operations" and specifically provides, "[t]he employer shall prohibit arms or legs from being placed between the uprights of the mast or outside the running lines of the truck." OSHA Regulation 1910.178(m)(4) imposes the specific obligation to protect workers from having arms or feet injured as a result of being outside of the protection of the cabin of the forklift. Because the pertinent portion of the regulation relating to Mr. Arnazzi's accident was OSHA Regulation 1910.178(m)(4), the circuit court was correct in concluding that portion relied upon by Arnazzi OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l) would not have provided "any specific type of training or education that would have provided [Mr. Arnazzi] with knowledge enabling him to recognize the alleged dangerous condition and avoid his workplace injury[.]" Sum. Jud. Ord. at 11

It is an elementary rule of statutory construction both in West Virginia and the federal system that a specific provision addressing an issue controls over a more general section. *See, e.g., In re Vandelinde*, 179 W. Va. 183, 186, 366 S.E.2d 631, 634 (1988) ("Traditional rules of statutory construction require, as we explained in Syllabus Point 2 of *State ex rel. Myers v. Wood*, 154 W. Va. 431, 175 S.E.2d 637 (1970), that: 'A specific section of a statute controls over a general section of the statute.'"); *Metropolitan Detroit Area Hosp. Serv., Inc. v. United States*, 634 F.2d 330, 334 (6th Cir. 1980) ("It is an elementary rule of statutory construction that

a specific provision controls when the same subject matter is addressed by a more general provision.”).⁵

In this case, Mr. Arnazzi testified that he was certain that when he was operating his forklift his left foot and leg were inside the cab. Arnazzi Depo. at 123. Indeed, Mr. Arnazzi testified that he never operated his forklift with his feet outside of the running lines, *id.* at 83, because it was “[k]ind of an innate safety common sense” to keep arms and feet inside the forklift. *Id.* at 80-81. Mr. Arnazzi’s own testimony establishes that at the time of his accident his conduct was consistent with both common sense and OSHA Regulation 1910.178(m)(4). Mr. Arnazzi himself proves his conduct before the accident complied with the specific safety provision of 1910.198(m)(4). Thus, he cannot show proximate causation and Quad/Graphics is entitled to summary judgment. *See Richard v. Swiber*, 760 So.2d 355, 361 (La. Ct. App. 1999) (summary judgment granted because no cause-in-fact shown—even if funeral home failed to instruct plaintiff on how to drive in funeral procession, plaintiff’s driving was consistent with what instruction would have required).⁶

⁵Likewise, both West Virginia and the federal system apply the canons of statutory construction to administrative rules and regulations. *See, e.g., Black & Decker Corp. v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue*, 986 F.2d 60, 65 (4th Cir.1993) (“Regulations, like statutes, are interpreted according to the canons of construction.”); *Cookman Realty Grp., Inc. v. Taylor*, 211 W. Va. 407, 412, 566 S.E.2d 294, 299 (2002) (citations omitted) (“A cardinal rule of textual interpretation requires, of course, that statutes and administrative rules “be construed as a whole, so as to give effect, if possible, to every word, phrase, paragraph and provision thereof.””).

⁶To the extent that the circuit court’s order did not rely on subsection m, “it is permissible for [this Court] to affirm the granting of summary judgment on bases different or grounds other than those relied upon by the circuit court.” *Gentry v. Mangum* 195 W. Va. 512, 519, 466 S.E.2d 171, 178- 179 (1995) (footnote omitted).

2. Mr. Arnazzi relies on legal conclusions in arguing against summary judgment and has failed to show any disputed material facts that would allow him to survive summary judgment. A motion for summary judgment tests whether there exist any genuine issues of material fact. Consequently, "[t]he party opposing a motion supported by evidence cannot discharge his burden by alleging mere legal conclusions; instead, he must present affirmative evidence in order to defeat a properly supported motion for summary judgment." *Hicks v. Brysch*, 989 F. Supp. 797, 807 (W.D. Tex. 1997) (footnote omitted). Here, Mr. Arnazzi cites with an incantory repetitiveness a plethora of cases observing that the issue of proximate cause is generally a jury question. Appellant's Br. at 8-9. However, this "argument" is really a legal conclusion, *i.e.*, that proximate cause is usually a jury question. Citing to an illusory truism does not satisfy Mr. Arnazzi's burden as:

The mere fact that a particular cause of action contains elements which typically raise a factual issue for jury determination does not automatically immunize the case from summary judgment. The plaintiff must still discharge his/her burden under Rule 56, by demonstrating that a legitimate jury question, *i.e.*, a genuine issue of material fact, is present.

Franklin D. Cleckley, et al., *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure* 924 n.106 (2002). See also *Brady v. Deals on Wheels, Inc.*, 208 W. Va. 636, 642-44, 542 S.E.2d 457, 463-65 (2001) (per curiam) (grant of summary judgment affirmed because plaintiff failed to make out a prima facie showing of proximate cause).

Mr. Arnazzi cannot survive summary judgment by asserting the truism that in general proximate cause is a jury issue; rather, he must show why *in this case* proximate cause is a jury question. In the absence of such a showing, Quad/Graphics is entitled to summary judgment.

See, e.g., *Tolley v. ACF Indust., Inc.*, 212 W. Va. 548, 558-59, 575 S.E.2d 158, 168-69 (2002) (per curiam) (summary judgment in deliberate intent case affirmed because plaintiff failed to show proximate cause).⁷ Indeed, not only has Mr. Arnazzi's failure to provide a factual argument relating to causation, under the facts in this case he cannot do so.

Under West Virginia law, "[t]he proximate cause of an injury has two dimensions: first, the injury resulting from the negligence must have been reasonably foreseeable to a prudent person; and second, the act or omission must have caused the injury." *Bellomy v. United States*, 888 F. Supp. 760, 766 (S.D. W. Va.1995). Proximate cause cannot rest upon speculation, conjecture, surmise, or mere possibility. *Tolley*, 212 W. Va. at 558, 575 S.E.2d at 168; *Crane Equip. & Rent. Co. v. Park Corp.*, 177 W. Va. 65, 69, 350 S.E.2d 692, 696 (1986) (per curiam); *State ex rel. Smeltzer v. Sawyers*, 149 W. Va. 641, 644-45, 142 S.E.2d 886, 889 (1965); Syl. pt. 2, *Vance v. Virginia Pocahontas Coal Co.*, 74 W. Va. 728, 82 S.E. 1081 (1914) Yet, Mr. Arnazzi's case rests precisely upon speculation, conjecture, surmise, and mere possibility.

Mr. Arnazzi's entire theory of the case is predicated upon Quad/Graphics failure to fully follow OSHA Regulation 1910.178(l). However, when questioned as to how Regulation 1910.178(l) training would have prevented his accident, he was only able to say,

⁷Mr. Arnazzi claims that "the circuit court invaded the jury's role as fact finder." Appellant's Br. at 9. However, when there are no disputed issues of material fact in a case, the jury has no role. See Syl. pt. 4, in part, *Harrison v. Town of Eleanor*, 191 W. Va. 611, 447 S.E.2d 546 (1994) ("Determinations involving questions of law are within the sole province of the court, while determinations of fact are within the province of the jury."); *Barrett v. Independent Order of Foresters*, 625 F.2d 73, 75 (5th Cir. 1980) ("Summary judgment is authorized where there are no issues of material fact in dispute. In such circumstances the jury, as trier of fact, has no role . . ."). "Accordingly, since the facts surrounding this issue were not in dispute, the application of the Act was a matter of law to be decided by the [circuit] court." *Angell v. Chesapeake and O. Ry. Co.*, 618 F.2d 260, 262 (4th Cir. 1980) (footnote omitted).

Okay. I believe if I would have had training, some safety training in driving a fork truck, that I would not have drove this alley way. I knew it was unsafe the day I did it. I think if I would have had the training I would have said, "no, its an unsafe condition."

Arnazzi Depo. at 242. Likewise, he testified, "I think if I had had a safety class I would have had more knowledge about driving the truck and possibly would have said, 'no, I'm not going to drive down through there.'" *Id.* "I believe I would have possibly recognized unsafe conditions and knowing that I could say no to it." *Id.* at 243. *See also id.* at 250:

I believe had I had some safety training and knew more about the fork truck I probably would not have driven down the aisle, I would have recognized and maybe known what my rights were about safety, but I didn't have the class so I just did what I was told.

Astonishingly, as late as October 15, 2002, Mr. Arnazzi was unable to identify a single aspect of a training program that would have avoided his accident, *id.* at 242, 243, 244, nor was he even able to explain what he thought might be included in a training program that might have helped him. *Id.* at 248-49. As the circuit court recognized, "[i]n his deposition, the Plaintiff admitted that it is only through speculation that he can assume that he would have received training that would have prompted him not to proceed down the alleyway." Sum. Jud. Ord. at 11. Never did Mr. Arnazzi point to any regulation dealing with a "specific unsafe working condition existed in the workplace which presented a high degree of risk and a strong probability of serious injury or death," as required by statute, that proximately resulted in his injury. All the training in the world cannot prevent a something from inadvertently catching

a forklift operator's pant leg while operating in close quarters which themselves present no known safety hazard.

This Court has clearly stated that a statutory violation is evidence of negligence *only* when "such violation is the proximate cause of injury. *See, e.g., Powell v. Mitchell*, 120 W. Va. 9, 196 S.E. 153 (1938); *Porterfield v. Sudduth*, 117 W. Va. 231, 185 S.E. 209 (1936).'
Yourtee v. Hubbard, 196 W. Va. 683, 687, 474 S.E.2d 613, 617 (1996) (footnote omitted). *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Anderson v. Moulder*, 183 W. Va. 77, 394 S.E.2d 61 (1990) ('Violation of a statute is prima facie evidence of negligence. In order to be actionable, such violation must be the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury.')." *Arbaugh v. Bd. of Educ.*, 214 W. Va. 677, 681, 591 S.E.2d 235, 239 (2003). In this case, Mr. Arnazzi simply failed to establish any causal connection between the alleged regulatory violation and the accident.

The Louisiana Court of Appeals affirmed the granting of summary judgment in a case with issues similar to the case *sub judice*. In *Reinhardt v. Great A&P Tea Co., Inc.*, 829 So.2d 600 (La. Ct. App. 2002), a plaintiff at a supermarket was injured when another customer riding in a motorized shopping cart struck her. *Id.* at 602. The plaintiff testified at her deposition that the other customer told her at the scene that the other customer's sleeve caught in the cart's controls causing it to go forward. *Id.* Affirming the summary judgment, the court of appeals held:

Here, plaintiff urges first that the conduct which renders defendant liable is its failure to instruct the elderly woman in the proper operation of the cart. However, even assuming that the grocery store should have given such instruction, its failure to do so is not causally related to the accident. Plaintiff's only factual explanation for the incident is not that the woman did not know

how to operate the cart safely, but rather that her sleeve inadvertently activated the controls.

Id. at 602. Like the plaintiff in *Reinhardt*, Mr. Arnazzi's only factual explanation for the accident is that his foot was inadvertently pulled out of the cab. Even if Mr. Arnazzi is correct that his foot was pulled from the forklift, he has failed to demonstrate a causal relationship between his lack of training and the accident beyond sheer speculation, conjecture, or surmise. The mere occurrence of an accident is insufficient to show liability. *Cf.* 13B Mich. Juris. *Negligence* § 23 at 389 (2002) ("Negligence cannot be presumed from the mere happening of an accident.") As the circuit court succinctly found, Mr. Arnazzi can only speculate that training would have prevented his accident, but "such a leap of faith, standing alone, is insufficient and proves fatal to the Plaintiff's prima facie case of deliberate intent under W. Va. Code § 23-4-2(c)(2)(ii)." Sum. Jud. Ord. at 11.⁸

The mere existence of a safety standard violation is plainly insufficient where there is no evidence that such violation is causally-related to an accident. In *Florence v. Knight*, 217 Ga.

⁸Indeed, it is difficult to fathom what additional training would have avoided the accident when Mr. Arnazzi himself cannot state with any certainty *how* his foot was pulled from the forklift. In his deposition, Mr. Arnazzi initially said that a piece of cardboard (a layer sheet) snagged his pant leg and pulled his leg outside of the forklift. Arnazzi Depo. at 124. However, Mr. Arnazzi then testified that "I don't know what grabbed my leg, I don't know if the layer sheet grabbed my leg or a piece of wood from the pallet grabbed my leg or what pulled my foot off. I was not looking at my foot at the time of the accident." *Id.* at 124-25. He further testified, "I believe that when I went through it somehow caught my pants leg and pulled my leg off the truck. I don't know what pulled my leg off the truck." *Id.* at 126. At best, Mr. Arnazzi was able to speculate that "I didn't see what actually—it could have been a slither of wood sticking off one of the pallets. There was something sticking out." *Id.* at 127. Mr. Arnazzi's own deposition testimony shows that even he cannot state with any sort of definitiveness as to what actually caused the accident. In opposing summary judgment, "[i]nferences and opinions must be grounded on more than flights of fancy, speculations, hunches, intuition, or rumors." *Williams*, 194 W. Va. at 61 n.14, 459 S.E.2d at 338 n.14.

App. 799, 459 S.E.2d 436 (1995), homeowners' sued a builder claiming that building code violations were the proximate cause of their injuries. The court rejected this argument, stating that:

Negligence per se is not liability per se. *See generally Biggs v. Long*, 212 Ga. App. 195, 199, n. 4, 441 S.E.2d 677 (1994). "Negligence, it should be remembered, is in itself [only] one of the essential elements prerequisite to a cause of action in a given case." *Platt v. Southern Photo Material Co.*, 4 Ga. App. 159, 163, 60 S.E. 1068 (1908). "Even if plaintiff[s] could show that the [lack of a walkway and accessible lighting in the attic] was negligence per se as a violation of the building code, [they] would nevertheless be precluded from recovering because of the equal knowledge rule." *Sullivan v. Quisc, Inc.*, *supra* at 116, 427 S.E.2d 86. Here the absence of the element of proximate cause, regardless of any building code infractions, is fatal to the Florences' claims.

Id. at 800, 459 S.E.2d at 438.

Essentially, Mr. Arnazzi argues that Quad/Graphics' failure to provide forklift certification training was alone sufficient to present genuine issues of material fact on causation. But this very Court, in an opinion cited by other courts,⁹ has held that the absence of a license or certificate is insufficient, standing alone, to defeat summary judgment. Specifically, this Court held that hiring a person to do work who was not licensed to do such work was not sufficient to establish negligent hiring as a matter of law. *Kizer v. Harper*, 211 W. Va. 47, 561 S.E.2d 368 (2001).

In *Kizer*, a cable company employee filed a claim for injuries sustained in a fall from a utility pole while stringing cable. 211 W. Va. at 50, 561 S.E.2d at 371. The plaintiff alleged

⁹See, e.g., *Shabazz v. Techton Corp.*, 116 Wash. App. 1002, 2003 WL 734527 at *3.

that the homeowner's son was negligent in hiring an unlicensed electrician who failed to hook up a circuit breaker to neutral wire. *Kizer*, 211 W. Va. at 51 n.6, 561 S.E.2d at 372 n.6. To support his claim, the plaintiff cited to a state statute requiring a license to perform electrical work. *Kizer*, 211 W. Va. at 52, 561 S.E.2d at 373. This court observed that the statutory violation was not enough to prove negligent hiring by the defendant as a matter of law because the plaintiff still had to show that the statutory violation proximately caused his injuries. *Kizer*, 211 W. Va. at 52, 561 S.E.2d at 373. Those are precisely the circumstances of this case and the circuit court was plainly warranted in awarding summary judgment.

3. *Mr. Arnazzi cannot contradict his own testimony in an effort to show that his accident was foreseeable.* "One requisite of proximate cause is an act or an omission which a person of ordinary prudence could reasonably foresee might naturally or probably produce an injury" *McCoy v. Cohen*, 149 W. Va. 197, 214, 140 S.E.2d 427, 437-438 (1965). A defendant

is not responsible for a consequence which is only possible, according to occasional experience, but only for a consequence which is probable according to ordinary and usual experience. The natural and probable consequences are those which human foresight can foresee, because they happen so frequently that they may be expected to happen again. The possible consequences are those which happen so infrequently, that they are not expected to happen again.

13B Mich. Juris. *Negligence* § 12 at 387 (2002) (footnote omitted). Mr. Arnazzi contends that "Appellees observed [him] operating a forklift in an unsafe manner, but continued to allow him to operate the forklift without training." Appellant's Br. at 9. Apparently, Mr. Arnazzi rests this assertion upon the testimony of Robert Maynard, *id.* at 3 (citing R. at 720-22), who testified

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